
 
NOTICE 

 
OF 

 
MEETING 

 
PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

PANEL 
 

will meet on 
 

Thursday 20 April 2023 
 

At 7.00 pm 
 

In the 
 

Council Chamber - Town Hall - Maidenhead and on RBWM YouTube  
 

 
To: Members of the Place Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 
Councillors John Bowden (Chairman), Helen Taylor (Vice-Chairman), Greg Jones, 
Maureen Hunt, Sayonara Luxton, Shamsul Shelim, Leo Walters, Joshua Reynolds, 
Mandy Brar, Gurch Singh, Jon Davey, Margaret Lenton (Wraysbury Parish Council) and 
Pat McDonald (White Waltham Parish Council)  

 
 
Substitute Members 
 
Councillors Gerry Clark, Gary Muir, Julian Sharpe, John Story, Chris Targowski, 
Helen Price, Catherine Del Campo, Amy Tisi, Geoff Hill and Simon Werner 

 
Kirsty Hunt, Service Lead – Electoral & Democratic Services - Issued: 12th April 2023 

 
Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 

web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Democratic Services Officer Mark Beeley Mark.Beeley@RBWM.gov.uk 
 
 
Recording of Meetings – In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the Part I (public) section of the meeting 

will be streamed live and recorded via Zoom. By participating in the meeting by audio and/or video, you are giving 
consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the public domain. If you have any questions 

regarding the council’s policy, please speak to Democratic Services or a Legal representative prior to the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead/videos
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


 

 

AGENDA 
 
Item Subject Page 

  
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
The Panel shall receive any apologies for absence. 
 

- 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
The Panel are asked to declare any interests that they may have. 
 

3 - 4 
 

 
3.   Call In - Lease of the site at Braywick Park to Maidenhead United 

Football Club 
 

1) After the Chair opens the meeting the Councillors who asked for the 
decision to be called in will be asked to explain their reasons for the 
request and what they feel should be reviewed; 
 

2) On matters of particular relevance to a particular ward, ward division 
Councillors who are not signatories to a call-in have the opportunity to 
make comments on the call-in at the meeting, such speeches not to 
exceed five minutes each. Ward Councillors will take no further part in 
the discussion or vote. Ward Councillors must register their request to 
speak by contacting Democratic Services by 12 noon on the day prior 
to the relevant hearing; 
 

3) The relevant Cabinet Member for the portfolio (or holders if more than 
one is relevant) will then be invited to make any comments; 
 

4) The relevant Executive Director or his representative will advise the 
Panel on the background and context of the decision and its 
importance to achieving Service priorities; 
 

5) Panel Members will ask questions of Councillors and officers in 
attendance; 
 

6) The Cabinet Member(s) will be invited to make any final comments on 
the matter; 
 

7) The Panel votes on a decision. 
 

5 - 20 
 

 
 



Revised October 2022 

 

MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

Disclosure at Meetings 

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration 
of interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI) or Other Registerable Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest 
in their Register of Interests they are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter 
being discussed. 

Any Member with concerns about the nature of their interest should consult the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting.  

Non-participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your DPIs (summary below, 
further details set out in Table 1 of the Members’ Code of Conduct) you must disclose the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by 
the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. Dispensation may be granted by the Monitoring Officer in limited circumstances, to enable 
you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a DPI. 

Where you have a DPI on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 
Member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it. 

DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election expenses 

• Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has 
not been fully discharged. 

• Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the council. 

• Any licence to occupy land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 

• Any tenancy where the landlord is the council, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest in the securities of. 

• Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of the council, and 
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
belonging to the relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.  

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other Registerable 
Interests (summary below and as set out in Table 2 of the Members Code of Conduct), you must 
disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it 
is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

3

Agenda Item 2



Revised October 2022 

 

Other Registerable Interests: 

a) any unpaid directorships  

b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management 

and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority  

c) any body  

(i) exercising functions of a public nature  

(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including 

any political party or trade union)  

 of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Disclosure of Non- Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and is 
not a DPI) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, or a body included under 
Other Registerable Interests in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring 
Officer) you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or well-being of a body included under Other Registerable 
Interests as set out in Table 2 (as set out above and in the Members’ code of 
Conduct) 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after 

disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

Where a matter (referred to in the paragraph above) affects the financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer, you do not have to disclose the nature of 
the interest. 

Other declarations 

Members may wish to declare at the beginning of the meeting any other information they feel should 

be in the public domain in relation to an item on the agenda; such Member statements will be included 

in the minutes for transparency. 

4



 

Report Title: Councillor Call In – Lease of the site at 
Braywick Park to Maidenhead United FC 

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I 

Meeting and Date: Place Overview and Scrutiny Panel – 20 April 
2023 

 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
In accordance with Part 4 A16 of the Constitution, the 4th April 2023 delegated officer 
decision relating to the item ‘Lease of the site at Braywick Park to Maidenhead 
United Football Club’ has been called in for review by the Place Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel. 
 

1. REASON(S) FOR CALL IN 

1.1 The call-in notice, received on 11th April 2023, stated the following reasons for 
calling in the decision: 

• Lack of meaningful consultation with the public in order for them to 
express their view/objections. 

• Lack of true consideration given to the local communities needs. 

• Concern that the land is being leased below it’s true value. 

• No real evidence that MUFC will struggle with its existing facilities. 

• The loss of publicly accessible communal space within the park should 
this go ahead, had not been given appropriate consideration. 

• Communication between the parties affected by this decision, who 
stand to lose their own facilities, has been poor. 

• No evidence that Sports England’s views have been considered. 
 

2. COUNCILLORS CALLING IN THE REPORT 

2.1 The call-in notice was signed by the following Councillors: 

• Councillor Helen Taylor 

• Councillor Geoff Hill 

• Councillor Jon Davey 

 

5

Agenda Item 3



3. PANEL OPTIONS 

3.1 Having considered the Call-In, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel may decide: 

i. to take no further action, in which case the decision will take effect 
immediately; 

ii. to refer the decision back to the decision-maker for reconsideration, 
setting out the nature of the Panel’s concerns. The decision-maker 
must then re-consider the matter, taking into account the concerns of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Panel, before making a final decision. In the 
case of Cabinet as the decision maker, the Leader can call a Cabinet 
meeting within 5 working days to expedite the process or refer the item 
to the next appropriate scheduled meeting. In the case of any decision 
maker, consideration must take place within a maximum of 28 days; 

iii. if the decision is considered to be outside of the budget or policy 
framework, to refer the matter to next scheduled ordinary full Council or 
an extraordinary full Council meeting within 28 days if appropriate, in 
which case paragraph (3.3) below will apply; 

3.2 If, following a call-in, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel does not meet within 10 
clear working days of receipt of the decision to call-in, or does meet but does 
not refer the matter back to the decision making person or body, or Full 
Council under iii above, the decision shall take effect immediately. 

3.3 If the matter was referred to Council and the Council does not object to a 
decision which has been made, then no further action is necessary and the 
decision will be effective in accordance with the provision below. However, if 
the Council does object, it has no locus to make decisions in respect of an 
executive decision unless it is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to 
or not wholly consistent with the Budget. Unless that is the case, the Council 
will refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision making person 
or body, together with the Council’s view on the decision. That decision 
making body or person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not 
before reaching a final decision and implementing it. Where the decision was 
taken by the Cabinet as a whole or a committee of it, a meeting will be 
convened to reconsider within 5 clear working days of the Council request. 
Where the decision was made by an individual, the individual will reconsider 
within 5 clear working days of the Council request. 

3.4 If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision back 
to the decision making body or person, the decision will become effective on 
the date of the Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council 
meeting should have been held, whichever is the earlier. 

4. APPENDICES  

4.1 This report is supported by two appendices: 
 

• Officer Decision Notice Form - Lease of the site at Braywick Park to 
Maidenhead United FC – 4th April 2023 

6



• Report - Disposal of Open Space Land, Land at Braywick Park, 
Maidenhead – 4th April 2023 

5. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

5.1 This report is supported by one background document: 
 

• Council Constitution - Part 4A - Purpose and Procedure Rules for 
Overview & Scrutiny  

7

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD558&ID=558&RPID=9598869
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD558&ID=558&RPID=9598869


Royal Borough of Windsor
and Maidenhead
Form submission: Officer
Decision Form

Submitted on Tuesday, 4 April, 2023 - 13:09

Decision title: Lease of the site at Braywick Park to Maidenhead United FC 

Date of decision: Tue, 04th April 2023 

Decision maker name: Andrew Durrant

Decision maker job title: Executive Director of Place

Decision maker email: andrew.durrant@rbwm.gov.uk

Authority for delegated decision: Part V of RBWMs Constitution provides for a
delegation to chief officers.

Reason(s) for officer decision notice: Any decision which is taken in exercise of an
express delegation made to an officer by the Cabinet or a Cabinet Sub Committee

Key decision subject to call-in?: Yes

Part II (Confidential) decision?: No

: 

Wards affected: Oldfield

Consultation undertaken (internal and external): 
The Council approved at Cabinet on 26th November 2020 the release of the land at
Braywick Park, subject to planning, for £460,000 as recommended in the s.123
report and delegated authority to Executive Director of Place to undertake the
statutory procedure required under Section 123(2A) of the Local Government Act
1972 as required and to negotiate draft agreement for lease, for 999 years at a
peppercorn rent.

An Open Space Notice was publicised for two weeks from 28th April 2022 in
respect of the proposed disposal of the land at Braywick Park, with objections
accepted until 19th May 2022. There is no statutory time constraint on
considerations, but consideration should be given to the 22 objections received on
balance of the disposal versus the loss of the open space.

Decision made: 
That the Executive Director of Place Services having due regard to the objections

8



Royal Borough of Windsor
and Maidenhead
Form submission: Officer
Decision Form

received in relation to the Public Open Space Disposal Notice and, subject to the
granting of planning permission for a new stadium, agrees to proceed with the
lease of the site.

Reasons for decision: 
Objections to the disposal of land at Braywick Park, Maidenhead by way of lease
for the principal use as a football stadium or community sports stadium together
with other associated sports, wellbeing, hospitality and community facilities, have
been considered by the Council on balance of disposal of the site versus loss of the
open space at Braywick Park.

Taking into account comparative and competing local community needs, the
Council has considered the representation received from the public and, on the
balance of benefits to the community, confirms that, subject to grant of planning
permission for a new stadium, is recommending that the lease of the site proceeds.

Details of any associated risks and mitigation: 
The risks associated with this project are limited for the council, as it will only be
releasing land to enable the future project to be delivered.

All project costs and project risk will sit with MUFC and the selected development
partner for the project.

Should the scheme not get delivered, following terms being agreed, then the
Council would not release the land.

The land is being released by way of a long leasehold (999 years) which is a virtual
freehold, with the council retaining the ultimate freehold and a caveat that, should
the site cease to be used as a football stadium, the land will revert back to the
council for nil consideration.

Details of any associated finance considerations: 
The council will receive in return for the sale of the land, subject to planning, a
capital receipt of £460,000. This will only be paid if planning permission is
achieved and is, therefore, a conditional contract.

Name of Finance officer who provided advice: Carter Jonas 

Date advice given: Wed, 01st September 2021

9



Royal Borough of Windsor
and Maidenhead
Form submission: Officer
Decision Form

Name of legal officer who provided advice: Katherine Lamprell

Date advice given: Wed, 06th April 2022

Details of any associated equality/ sustainability /data protection considerations: 
Equalities. Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council
to ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan,
project, service or procedure the impacts on particular groups, an EQIA will be
published on the council website for this project.

Climate change/sustainability. In light of the council motion to declare a climate
change emergency, the development of the new stadium will need to meet BREAM
standards and demonstrate that sustainable materials and construction methods
are used where at all possible. The redevelopment of the existing stadium for
residential purposes will also need to take account of social, environmental and
economic sustainability.

Data Protection/GDPR. Due regard to the requirements of the Data Protection Act
2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation have been considered and taken
into account before making a decision. In this instance, it has not been necessary
to carry out a Date Protection Impact Assessment. 

Details of any alternative options considered and reasons for rejection: 
Do Nothing: MUFC will struggle to continue with its existing facilities, which will
not be suitable for future advancement in the football league or be able to bring
forward much needed sports facilities to a wide range of groups in the location
community. 

Associated documents: 
 

Details of any declarations of interest made: none

If you would like to receive an email receipt, then please enter your email address
and confirm it below: oran.norris-browne@rbwm.gov.uk

Confirm email address: oran.norris-browne@rbwm.gov.uk

 

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

10

http://www.tcpdf.org


 
Report Title: Disposal of Open Space Land, Land at 

Braywick Park, Maidenhead 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Johnson Leader of the Council & 
Lead Member for Business, Economic 
Development & Property 

Meeting and Date: Tuesday 4 April 2023 
 

Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services 

Wards affected:   Oldfield 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 

The Council approved at Cabinet on 19th December 2019 the request for relocation of 
Maidenhead United Football Club (MUFC), subject to an s.123 report, to confirm 
valuation for the land known as Braywick Park. 

This site was identified as the most suitable relocation for MUFC based on the 
collective sports and leisure focus for this area. 

The site is appropriate in terms of size and location to secure the future of the club in 
Maidenhead and ensure that the club has the appropriate facilities to progress through 
the football league. 

The Council and MUFC want to ensure that the retention of the club and the facilities 
that they provided are beneficial and accessible to all residents of the borough. 

MUFC has worked hard to engage with local stakeholders and to ensure that wider 
sports needs are taken into account. Further consultation by MUFC will be essential 
as part of a future planning application process. 

The costs for delivery of the new facilities will have to be met fully from the 
redevelopment of the existing stadium. 

The Council approved at Cabinet on 26th November 2020 the release of the land at 
Braywick Park, subject to planning, for £460,000 as recommended in the s.123 report 
and delegated authority to Executive Director of Place to undertake the statutory 
procedure required under Section 123(2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 as 
required and to negotiate draft agreement for lease, for 999 years at a peppercorn rent. 

An Open Space Notice was publicised for two weeks from 28th April 2022 in respect 
of the proposed disposal of the land at Braywick Park, with objections accepted until 
19th May 2022. There is no statutory time constraint on considerations, but 
consideration should be given to the 22 objections received on balance of the disposal 
versus the loss of the open space. 

 

11



1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That the Executive Director of Place Services having 
due regard to the objections received in relation to the Public Open Space 
Disposal Notice and, subject to the granting of planning permission for a 
new stadium, agrees to proceed with the lease of the site. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Objections to the disposal of land at Braywick Park, Maidenhead by way 
of lease for the principal use as a football stadium or community sports 
stadium together with other associated sports, wellbeing, hospitality and 
community facilities, have been considered by the Council on balance of 
disposal of the site versus loss of the open space at Braywick Park. 

Taking into account comparative and competing local community needs, 
the Council has considered the representation received from the public 
and, on the balance of benefits to the community, confirms that, subject 
to grant of planning permission for a new stadium, is recommending that 
the lease of the site proceeds. 

Reasons for decision 

1. The site has been identified as the most suitable relocation for 
Maidenhead United Football Club based on the collective 
sports and leisure focus at Braywick Park. 

2. Braywick Park offers relocation of the football club to an 
alternative town centre location with similar walking, cycling, 
bus, rail and road links to those at York Road. 

3. Braywick Park is Maidenhead’s existing sport and recreation 
hub and offers the most suitable location for the football club 
to move to. 

4. The site is appropriate in terms of size and location to secure 
the future of the football club in Maidenhead and ensure that it 
has the appropriate facilities to help progress through the 
football league. 

5. The Council and MUFC want to ensure that the retention of the 
club and the facilities that they provide are beneficial and 
accessible to all residents of the borough. 

6. Proposals for the new community football stadium include 
additional sports facilities which will benefit the various sports 
clubs already located at Braywick Park and the wider 
community. The Council’s ‘Playing Pitch & Built Facilities’ 
strategy will support future use, demand management and 
proposed development on the site. 

7. The MUFC proposals will be subject to full Public consultation 
as part of their planning application process. 

8. The adopted Borough Local Plan allocates Maidenhead Golf 
Club site as part of a wider housing-led development (AL13) 

12



and Braywick Park is allocated as a Strategic Green 
Infrastructure site (AL15) to provide a sports hub and other 
uses. Both the AL13 development and the proposed relocation 
of MUFC into Braywick Park are subject to planning 
permission. 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 
Proceed with the lease of the site identified 
at Braywick Park to enable the relocation of 
MUFC. 
This is the recommended option 

This would enable the delivery of a 
brand-new football stadium, with 
additional sports facilities for the 
benefit of all residents in the 
borough. 

Do not release the site in favour of MUFC MUFC will struggle to continue with 
its existing facilities, which will not 
be suitable for future advancement 
in the football league or be able to 
bring forward much needed sports 
facilities to a wide range of groups in 
the location community.  

  
2.1    The football club has for many years been an important part of the fabric of 

Maidenhead Town Centre and in recent years has developed and grown 
significantly. Key achievements include: 

 The men’s first team has been promoted to the National League (5th tier 
of English football). 

 Average match day attending increasing from 303 in the 2013/2014 
season to over 1,500 in 2018/19 season. 

 The women’s team playing in the FA Women’s Premier Leagues South 
West League. 

 The expansion of the amateur football provision, with the club now having 
over 500 playing members with a further 42 junior, Academy & Waling 
Football teams, catering for all ages and abilities. 

 The establishment of the Magpies in the Community programme through 
which over 2,500 children, young people and adults are regularly 
participating in a range of sports, health and wellbeing focussed activities 
delivered by our community team. This also played a key role in supporting 
communities through the first wave of Covid-19. 

2.2          Future Facilities for the Club 

Whilst the overall outlook of the long-term future of the club is positive, they do 

face a number of challenges including: 

13



 An aging ground and facilities which require significant investment not 
only to sustain the existing position but also to enable them to develop 
and grow as a club. 

 Should they get promoted to the football league, the requirement to 
further develop the York Road ground including increasing the ground 
capacity to 5,000 increasing the number of seats by a further 1,500 to 
2,000 and upgrading a range of other facilities including turnstiles, 
floodlighting, changing rooms and clubhouse. 

 Establishing the financial sustainability of the club by removing the 
current reliance on the club’s main benefactor. 

 Securing the long term benefit the club can provide to the local community 
in terms of sport, health and wellbeing.

14



3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

An initial feasibility undertaken by MUFC established that the sale of their York Road 
ground for residential redevelopment would enable construction of a new 
stadium. 

3.2 Consultation and engagement by key officers of MUFC with existing leaseholders 
at Braywick Park is ongoing and will form part of the proposed planning 
application submission for the new stadium. 

3.3 MUFC have undertaken initial design and feasibility work in terms of the level 
of construction cost that could be met from redevelopment of the existing ground 
for residential purposes. 

3.4 Redevelopment of the existing facility will enhance the further regeneration of 
the York Road development area. 

3.5 Neighbouring sports and leisure facilities at Braywick Park (Rugby Club, Athletics 
Club and former Sportsable building) are not directly affected by the area to be 
leased to MUFC but they have been enjoying the use of surrounding land owned 
by the council outside of any legal agreements. Therefore, ongoing consultation 
and appropriate care needs to be taken to ensure that other user’s needs are 
accommodated as part of the proposed redevelopment. 

3.6 The area to be leased to MUFC extends to 3.7 hectares. 

3.7 The current net book value on the council’s assets for this site is de Minimis as 
the land does not have any designated use other than for sports and leisure 
use. 

3.8 The benefits of the proposed new provision at Braywick Park will allow for: 

 Additional sports and leisure facilities for local residents & wider 
community groups. 

 Bespoke facilities for individuals with a disability to enable them to 
compete in sports at a county & national level. 

 5,000 capacity stadium, including the provision of 1,500 seats (with 
scope to add further if required). 

 New club house building incorporating a range of facilities: changing 
facilities; performance gym; bar; café; hospitality/education space; and 
office space. 

15



 Futsal hall with separate change facilities (all suitable for provision of 
disability sports). 

 60x40 metre floodlit Astroturf. 

 Athletics track and associated facilities. 

 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1     The council will receive in return for the sale of the land, subject to planning, a 
capital receipt of £460,000. This will only be paid if planning permission is 
achieved and is, therefore, a conditional contract. 

4.2 There will be no financial implications on the council for the successful 
implementation of this project. 

4.3 All construction and land assembly costs associated with the delivery of this 
project will be borne by the selected developer and/or MUFC. 

4.4 There will be no financial implications to the council, all legal fees, valuation 
fees and professional fees that are incurred by the council will need to be met 
within the project cost by the selected development partner. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1      The council has the power under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 
to dispose of land held by them in any manner they wish providing that such 
disposal is for the best consideration reasonably obtainable (other than in the 
case of a lease for less than 7 years). Therefore, the council has the requisite 
power to sell the long leasehold interest in the site at Braywick Park. 

5.2   Section 123(2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the council to 
advertise a notice of their intention to dispose of any land consisting or forming 
part of open space to be advertised in two consecutive weeks in a newspaper 
circulating in the area in which the land is circulated. The council must consider 
any objections to the proposed disposal made to them. 

5.3 The site has been identified as the most suitable relocation for MUFC based on 
the collective sports and leisure focus at Braywick Park. 

5.4 The council and MUFC want to ensure that the retention of the club and the 
facilities that they provide are beneficial and accessible to all residents of the 
borough. 

5.5 Proposals for the new community football stadium include additional sports 
facilities which will benefit the various sports clubs already located at Braywick 
Park and the wider community. The council’s ‘Playing Pitch & Built Facilities’ 
strategy will support future use, demand management and proposed 
development on the site. 

5.6 The MUFC proposals will be subject to full Public consultation as part of their 
planning application process. 

16



5.7 The adopted Borough Local Plan allocates Maidenhead Golf Club site as part 
of a wider housing-led development (AL13) and Braywick Park is allocated as 
a Strategic Green Infrastructure site (AL15) to provide a sports hub and other 
uses. Both the AL13 development and the proposed relocation of MUFC into 
Braywick Park are subject to planning permission. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1     The risks associated with this project are limited for the council, as it will only be 
releasing land to enable the future project to be delivered. 

6.2      All project costs and project risk will sit with MUFC and the selected development 
partner for the project. 

6.3 Should the scheme not get delivered, following terms being agreed, then the 
Council would not release the land. 

6.4 The land is being released by way of a long leasehold (999 years) which is a 
virtual freehold, with the council retaining the ultimate freehold and a caveat 
that, should the site cease to be used as a football stadium, the land will revert 
back to the council for nil consideration. 

 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1    Equalities. Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the 
council to ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, 
plan, project, service or procedure the impacts on particular groups, an EQIA 
will be published on the council website for this project. 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. In light of the council motion to declare a climate 
change emergency, the development of the new stadium will need to meet 
BREAM standards and demonstrate that sustainable materials and 
construction methods are used where at all possible. The redevelopment of the 
existing stadium for residential purposes will also need to take account of social, 
environmental and economic sustainability. 

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. Due regard to the requirements of the Data Protection 
Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation have been considered 
and taken into account before making a decision. In this instance, it has not 
been necessary to carry out a Date Protection Impact Assessment. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 Initial consultation has been undertaken by MUFC with key stakeholders 
located at Braywick Park. Further consultation with key stakeholder groups 
will continue, along with public consultation, as part of their planning 
application. 

17



9.       TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

8.1      Implementation date if not called in: Immediately 

 

10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

10.1 Report to Cabinet at meeting held on 19th December 
2019.  

10.2 Report to Cabinet at meeting held on 26th November 
2020.  

10.3 EQIA previously published on the council website. 

 

11     CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
22.3.23 24.3.23 

Elaine Browne Head of Law & Governance 
(Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

22.3.23 24.3.23 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 22.3.23 23.3.23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 22.3.23 23.3.23 
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 24.3.23 27.3.23 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Councillor Johnson 
Leader of the Council & Lead 
Member for Business, 
Economic Development & 
Property 

Councillor Haseler 
Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways & Transport 

Councillor Bhangra 
Cabinet Member for 
Environmental Services, Parks 
& Countryside 

Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
Yes 

18



 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision first 
entered into 
Forward Plan: 
 
27 January 2023 
 

No 
 

No  

 
Report Author: Jonathan Brookes, Senior Project Manager, RBWM Property 
Company Ltd. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Call In - Lease of the site at Braywick Park to Maidenhead United Football Club
	1. REASON(S) FOR CALL IN
	1.1 The call-in notice, received on 11th April 2023, stated the following reasons for calling in the decision:
	 Lack of meaningful consultation with the public in order for them to express their view/objections.
	 Lack of true consideration given to the local communities needs.
	 Concern that the land is being leased below it’s true value.
	 No real evidence that MUFC will struggle with its existing facilities.
	 The loss of publicly accessible communal space within the park should this go ahead, had not been given appropriate consideration.
	 Communication between the parties affected by this decision, who stand to lose their own facilities, has been poor.
	 No evidence that Sports England’s views have been considered.

	2. COUNCILLORS CALLING IN THE REPORT
	2.1 The call-in notice was signed by the following Councillors:
	 Councillor Helen Taylor
	 Councillor Geoff Hill
	 Councillor Jon Davey

	3. PANEL OPTIONS
	3.1 Having considered the Call-In, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel may decide:
	i. to take no further action, in which case the decision will take effect immediately;
	ii. to refer the decision back to the decision-maker for reconsideration, setting out the nature of the Panel’s concerns. The decision-maker must then re-consider the matter, taking into account the concerns of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel, before ...
	iii. if the decision is considered to be outside of the budget or policy framework, to refer the matter to next scheduled ordinary full Council or an extraordinary full Council meeting within 28 days if appropriate, in which case paragraph (3.3) below...
	3.2 If, following a call-in, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel does not meet within 10 clear working days of receipt of the decision to call-in, or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the decision making person or body, or Full Council under...
	3.3 If the matter was referred to Council and the Council does not object to a decision which has been made, then no further action is necessary and the decision will be effective in accordance with the provision below. However, if the Council does ob...
	3.4 If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision back to the decision making body or person, the decision will become effective on the date of the Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council meeting shou...

	4. APPENDICES
	4.1 This report is supported by two appendices:
	 Officer Decision Notice Form - Lease of the site at Braywick Park to Maidenhead United FC – 4th April 2023
	 Report - Disposal of Open Space Land, Land at Braywick Park, Maidenhead – 4th April 2023

	5. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	5.1 This report is supported by one background document:
	 Council Constitution - Part 4A - Purpose and Procedure Rules for Overview & Scrutiny

	1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options

	3. KEY IMPLICATIONS
	4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	6. RISK MANAGEMENT
	7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	8. CONSULTATION
	8.1 Initial consultation has been undertaken by MUFC with key stakeholders located at Braywick Park. Further consultation with key stakeholder groups will continue, along with public consultation, as part of their planning application.

	9.       TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	8.1      Implementation date if not called in: Immediately

	10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11     CONSULTATION




